
MAYOR  CITY MANAGER 

Shirley Sessions Dr. Shawn Gillen 

 
CITY COUNCIL CLERK OF COUNCIL  
Barry Brown, Mayor Pro Tem Jan LeViner 

Brian West  

Jay Burke CITY ATTORNEY 
Nancy DeVetter Edward M. Hughes 

Spec Hosti 
Monty Parks  

 CITY OF TYBEE ISLAND 

 
P.O. Box 2749 – 403 Butler Avenue, Tybee Island, Georgia 31328-2749 

(866) 786-4573 – FAX (866) 786-5737 
www.cityoftybee.org 

 

A G E N D A  
REGULAR MEETING OF TYBEE ISLAND CITY COUNCIL 

August 24, 2023 at 6:30 PM 
Please silence all cell phones during Council Meetings 

 
Opening Ceremonies 
     Call to Order 
     Invocation 
     Pledge of Allegiance 
 
Announcements 
 
Consideration of Items for Consent Agenda  
 
Recognitions and Proclamations 

1. Coast Guard Birthday Recognition 
 
Consideration of the approval of the minutes of the meetings of the Tybee island City Council 

2. City Council Meeting Minutes, July 13, 2023 
 
Reports of Staff, Boards, Standing Committees and/or Invited Guests.  Limit reports to 10 
minutes. 

3. Tiffany Hayes, Chief, Tybee Island Police Department:  New K-9 Program (Information 
Only) 

 
Citizens to be Heard:  Please limit comments to 3 minutes.  Maximum allowable times of 5 
minutes. 

4. Nick Sears:  Unauthorized STR Permits in the residential neighborhoods 
5. Sarah Jones:  Lighthouse Preservation Project 

 
If there is anyone wishing to speak to anything on the agenda, please come forward.  Please 
limit your comments to three (3) minutes and no more than   five (5) minutes. 
 
Consideration of Approval of Consent Agenda 
 
 
 

- Page 1 -



 

 
P.O. Box 2749 – 403 Butler Avenue, Tybee Island, Georgia 31328-2749 

(866) 786-4573 – FAX (866) 786-5737 
www.cityoftybee.org 

Consideration of Local Requests & Applications – Funding, Special Events, Alcohol License 
6. Alcohol License: Special Event, Beer/Wine-Peace Officers Assoc. of GA dba Peace 

Officers Training Conf. Hotel Tybee-1401 Strand Ave 
7.  Alcohol License: Beer/Wine Special Event-Friends of the Tybee Post Theater dba Tybee 

Post Music Festival, One Day Special Event: November 4, 2023 Hotel Tybee, 1401 
Strand Ave 

8. Agenda Request: Alcohol License-Beer/Wine: Special Event: Tybee Festival Association 
dba Tybee Pirate Fest Two Day Special Event: October 7-8, 2023, 16th Street Parking 
Lot 

 
Consideration of Bids, Contracts, Agreements and Expenditures 

9. Preliminary FY23 Budget Amendment 
10. Tybee Island Fire and Rescue:  Purchase 2005 F550 super Duty Crew Cab Squad 

Truck.  Capital Fund Acct. 350-3510-54-1300 currently available balance is 
$200,000.00 Cost for Apparatus is $50,000.00 

11. Tybee Island Fire and Rescue:  Purchase 2019 22.2 Zodiac Pro 7 Rigid Inflatable Boat, 
Capital Fund Acct. 350-3510-54-2500 currently available balance is $90,000.00 Cost for 
Boat is $78,200 including trailer and delivery. This is a budgeted expense in the FY24 
budget. 

 
Consideration of Ordinances, Resolutions 

12. Reimbursement Resolution 
 
Council, Officials and City Attorney Considerations and Comments 

13. Bubba Hughes:  Patel vs Tybee Authorization/Agreement 
14. Bubba Hughes:  Tom Gehl, Government Relations Services 
15. Barry Brown:  Functional Fire Hydrants  
16. Michelle Owens:  Procedures for Dump Fees 
17. Michelle Owens:  Main Street:  Non-profit Grants 

 
Executive Session 
     Discuss litigation, personnel and real estate  
 
Possible vote on litigation, personnel and real estate discussed in executive session 
 
Adjournment 
Individuals with disabilities who require certain accommodations in order to allow them to observe and/or 
participate in this meeting, or who have questions regarding the accessibility of the meeting or the facilities are 
required to contact Jan LeViner at 912.472.5080 promptly to allow the City to make reasonable accommodations 
for those persons.   
 
*PLEASE NOTE:  Citizens wishing to speak on items listed on the agenda, other than public hearings, 

should do so during the citizens to be heard section.  Citizens wishing to place items on the council 
meeting agenda must submit an agenda request form to the City Clerk’s office by Thursday at 5:00PM 

prior to the next scheduled meeting.  Agenda request forms are available outside the Clerk’s office at City 
Hall and at www.cityoftybee.org. 
 

- Page 2 -

http://www.cityoftybee.org/


 

 
P.O. Box 2749 – 403 Butler Avenue, Tybee Island, Georgia 31328-2749 

(866) 786-4573 – FAX (866) 786-5737 
www.cityoftybee.org 

 

 

THE VISION OF THE CITY OF TYBEE ISLAND 

 
  

“is to make Tybee Island the premier beach community in which to live, work, and play.” 
 

 

 

THE MISSION OF THE CITY OF TYBEE ISLAND 

 
  

“is to provide a safe, secure and sustainable environment by delivering superior services through responsible 
planning, preservation of our natural and historic resources, and partnership with our community to ensure 
economic opportunity, a vibrant quality of life, and a thriving future.” 

 

 

- Page 3 -



File Attachments for Item:

2. City Council Meeting Minutes, July 13, 2023

- Page 4 -Item #2.



City Council Minutes,     August 10, 2023 
 
Mayor Sessions called the meeting to order at 6:30PM, August 10, 2023.  Those in 
attendance were Brian West, Monty Parks, Nancy DeVetter, Barry Brown, Jay Burke and 
Spec Hosti.  Also attending were Michelle Owens, Acting City Manager; Bubba Hughes, 
City Attorney; Tracy O’Connell, City Attorney, and Jan LeViner, Clerk of Council.  Dr. 
Gillen was not present. 
 
Opening Ceremonies 
     Call to Order 
     Invocation:  Jan LeViner, Clerk 
     Pledge of Allegiance 
 
Jan LeViner, Clerk, approached Mayor and Council to give an update on the upcoming 
Municipal Election on November 7, 2023.  Ms. LeViner reported qualifying will be held 
in her office, August 22nd – 24th.  Mayor Sessions thanked Ms. LeViner. 
 
Alan Robertson approached Mayor and Council to give a report on the recent permit 
submission to the Department of Natural Resources (DNR) regarding replacing the 
swings and benches on the Island.  This permit was approved unanimously.  This 
provides benches on crosswalks at Chatham, 13th, 12th, 11th, 10th, 9th, 8th and 6th Streets 
and one at East Gate, which is ADA.  Current swings will be removed and after Turtle 
Season ends, November 1st new swings will be installed.  The permit which covers all 
structures on the beach has also been approved.  Mr. Robertson thanked the DNR Staff 
for their hard work to allow the proper amount of amenities for the right reasons yet 
protect the beach and dunes.  Mayor Sessions thanked Mr. Robertson for all his hard 
work.   
 
Mayor Sessions introduced Mark Williams, former Commissioner, DNR.  Mayor 
Sessions expressed her gratitude for all Mr. Williams has done for Tybee Island during 
recent pop-up events and especially for the ongoing support and partnership, he has 
provided to Tybee Island.  Mr. Williams has taken a position with the Jekyll Island 
Authority and will be missed.  Mayor Sessions recognized Mr. Williams with the Key to 
the City and a Certificate of Appreciation.     
 
Mayor Sessions introduced Bert Brantley, CEO and President of the Savannah 
Chamber.  Mayor Sessions thanked Mr. Brantley for his partnership with Tybee Island. 
 
Consideration of Items for Consent Agenda  

 Minutes:  City Council Meeting, July 13, 2023 

 Skidaway Institute Dune Monitoring Agreement 

 Symbioscity:  Consulting Services Agreement 

 Third Amendment Fort and Van Horne Water Tower Temporary for Verizon 
Mobile 

 Out-of-State Travel San Diego:  Tiffany Hayes, International Association of Chiefs 

of Police Conference, October 13 - 18, 2023.  Line Item 100-3210-52-3500, 

$1,760.00 

 Joel Fobes Settlement 

 William Moseley Settlement 
 

- Page 5 -Item #2.



Citizens to be Heard:  Please limit comments to 3 minutes.  Maximum 
allowable times of 5 minutes. 
Kelly O’Brien, approached Mayor and Council to give an update on Community 
Events, Forever Tybee.  Mayor Sessions thanked Ms. O’Brien. 
 
Monty Parks made a motion to approve the consent agenda.  Barry Brown seconded.  
Vote was unanimous to approve, 6-0.   
 
Public Hearings 
Site Plan Approval:  Requesting site plan approval to operate a business 

located at 103 Butler Avenue, Zone C2.  George Shaw approached Mayor and 

Council.  Mr. Shaw stated the petitioner is interested in rehabbing the duplex at 103 

Butler.  The intent is to add a storage building in the back with a drive through.  Staff 

recommended approval, as did the Planning Commission with a vote of 4-3.  Mr. Parks 

stated it is his understand Planning Commission had a condition with their approval.  Mr. 

Shaw confirmed, as they are concerned with the height of the building, 15’ maximum.  The 

applicant has submitted a drawing showing the height of the middle of the building would 

be 15’.  Ms. DeVetter asked Mr. Shaw regarding the Drainage Plan, if it has been 

submitted.  Mr. Shaw responded the petitioner is still waiting on the survey and if 

approved tonight, Staff would insure it was in place prior to construction.  He continued, 

the small building will be an office and the steel building will be a warehouse/storage for 

materials and equipment.  Tony Lord, owner, Step Above Construction, approached 

Mayor and Council.    Mr. Lord stated his company has been on the Island for several 

years working the Mr. Shaw and the residents.  He continued, it is their intent to beautify 

Tybee and serve the community.  Mr. Lord is asking Mayor and Council approve his 

request.  Barry Brown made a motion to approve with a 15’ height limit for the ridge of 

the storage building.  Spec Hosti seconded.  Vote was unanimous to approve. 

Zoning Variance, 1514 Lovell Avenue, 40008-07001, to build a fence two to 

four feet above the eight-foot limit and extend the rear deck to the new fence 

line, Zone C-1.  George Shaw approached Mayor and Council.  Mr. Shaw stated the 

petitioner owns a home directly behind Nickie’s and the parcel goes up to the existing 

deck.  They would like to make the fence higher, 10’, and Planning Commission 

recommended approval as long as it did not exceed the side yard fence, which is a 10’ 

fence.  Staff recommended approval, as did the Planning Commission 4-3. Mr. Hosti 

stated there have been numerous noise complaints from Nicki’s and he is in favor of a 10’ 

fence.   Mr. Shaw explained the uniqueness of this request due to the height of Nickie’s as 

the topography drops significantly to the petitioners residence.  Mr. Parks confirmed the 

properties are C-1.  Mr. Shaw confirmed.  Robert Matkowski approached Mayor and 

Council.    Mr. Matkowski explained the vote of the Planning Commission was based upon 

the existence of the other 10’ fence that was already in place.  If the fence had not been 

there, he believes the decision of the Planning Commission would have been different.    

Mayor Sessions thanked Mr. Matkowski.  Monty Parks made a motion to approve.  

Brian West seconded.  Voting in favor were Brian West, Monty Parks, Nancy DeVetter, 

Jay Burke and Spec Hosti.  Voting against was Barry Brown.  Motion to approve, 5-1. 

Consideration of Ordinances, Resolutions 
First and Second Reading:  2023-26,  Sec 2-36 Compensation Change, Mayor 
and Council.   Mr. Hughes stated this is the ordinance that was drafted and introduced 

- Page 6 -Item #2.



at the meeting on July 13, 2023 in order to meet the time required by State Law.   
Deadlines have been met in consideration of the compensation increase.  Tonight there 
will be first and second readings of the proposed ordinance. Mr. Hosti stated City Council 
members have not had a raise in nine (9) years and recommended approval.  Mr. Parks 
asked there be an attendance and voting record kept for accountability.  Monty Parks 
made a motion to approve First Reading of 2023-26.  Spec Hosti seconded.  Vote was 
unanimous to approve, 6-0.  Monty Parks made a motion to approve Second Reading.  
Spec Hosti seconded.  Vote was unanimous to approve, 6-0. 
 
Council, Officials and City Attorney Considerations and Comments 
Thomas Harmon, 43 Van Horne Avenue, STR Permit, Jay Burke recused.     
Tracy O’Connell approached Mayor and Council.  Ms. O’Connell stated this is one of 
the applications under the Ordinance, 2023-15A, which allows residents that had a 
building permit prior to the moratorium but were not eligible for a Certificate of 
Occupancy get their STR Permit.   Spec Hosti made a motion to approve.  Brian West 
seconded.  Voting in favor were Brian West, Monty Parks, and Spec Hosti.  Voting against 
were Nancy DeVetter and Barry Brown.  Motion to approve, 3-2. 
 
Jay Burke returned to the meeting, 
 
Monty Parks encouraged everyone to participate in the YMCA survey regarding the 
need for childcare on the Island.  He would like to form a working group to explore 
childcare on Tybee Island.  The Board of the YMCA have agreed to be Chairman of 
the group and it is the intent to gather information.  It there is an interest, before or after 
school, during school, and/or day care.  Mr. Hosti stated there are a great deal of young 
families on the Island and the demand is there.  Dr. West thanked Mr. Parks for being this 
to the forefront as there is a need.  Ms. DeVetter offered her assistance where needed.  
Mayor Sessions thanked everyone for their support.   
 
Brian West:  Dump fees for residents. Dr. West stated at the previous meeting 
there was a discussion regarding complimentary dump services for the residents of Tybee.  
Mr. Gulbronson was task with bringing recommendations/procedures to Mayor and 
Council.  Dump fees generate approximately $34,000 per year and his suggestion is to 
have the resident provide a utility bill or driver’s license to prove their residency in order 
to receive complimentary services.  Contractors would still be required to pay 5 cents a 
pound for their dumps.  Mayor Sessions thanked everyone for the information provided.  
Mr. Hosti is in support of this as it is a way to give something back to the residents.  Brian 
West made a motion to allow complimentary fees for the dump.  Barry Brown 
seconded.  Vote was 6-0 to approve.  DISCUSSION:  Pete Gulbronson to bring back 
procedures for implementation at the August 24, 2023 City Council meeting. 
 
Michelle Owens gave an update on the Emergency Medical Services.  Ms. Owens 
stated there was a recent workshop where this topic was discussed and Staff has been 
working toward viable options.  Ms. Owens stated she has had numerous conversations 
with the County and they have expressed they would like to address our concerns.  Mayor 
Sessions thanked Ms. Owens for her work with the County to get better ambulance 
response times and in building a relationship with them.  Mr. Hosti thanked Ms. Owens.   
 
 

- Page 7 -Item #2.



 

Spec Hosti made a motion to adjourn to executive session to discuss real estate, 
personnel and litigation.  Nancy DeVetter seconded.  Vote was unanimous to approve, 
6-0. 
 
Spec Hosti made a motion to return to regular session.  Monty Parks seconded.  Vote 
was unanimous to approve 6-0. 
 
Spec Hosti made a motion to adjourn.  Monty Parks seconded.  Vote was unanimous 
to approve, 6-0. 
 
Meeting adjourned at 9:50PM 
 
 
 
_________________________ 
Janet LeViner, MMC 
Clerk of Council 

- Page 8 -Item #2.



File Attachments for Item:

3. Tiffany Hayes, Chief, Tybee Island Police Department:  New K-9 Program  (Information Only)

- Page 9 -Item #3.



- Page 10 -Item #3.



- Page 11 -Item #3.



File Attachments for Item:

5. Sarah Jones:  Lighthouse Preservation Project

- Page 12 -Item #5.



MAYOR  

Jason Buelterman 

 
CITY COUNCIL  

Barry Brown, Mayor Pro Tem 

John Branigin 

Wanda Doyle 

Julie Livingston 

Monty Parks 

Shirley Session 

 

 
CITY OF TYBEE ISLAND 

 

 

 

 

CITY MANAGER 

Shawn Gillen 

 

CLERK OF COUNCIL 

Janet LeViner 

 

CITY ATTORNEY 

Edward M. Hughes 

 

 

P.O. Box 2749 – 403 Butler Avenue, Tybee Island, Georgia 31328-2749 

(866) 786-4573 – FAX (866) 786-5737 

www.cityoftybee.org 

City Council Agenda Item Request  

 

Agenda Item Requests and supporting documentation must be submitted to the Clerk of Council by 

4:00PM on the Thursday prior to the next scheduled Council meeting.  If this form is received after the 

deadline, the item will be listed on the next scheduled agenda.  

  

Council Meeting Date for Request:  August 24, 2023   

 

Item:  ___Tybee Island Lighthouse_____________________________________________________________ 

Explanation: _ Speak to council and the citizens of Tybee Island about the preservation work that is need for the 

Tybee Island Lighthouse.          __________________ 

__________________________________________________________________________________   

__________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Budget Line Item Number (if applicable):   N/A     

 

Paper Work:      Attached*   

            ______ Audio/Video Presentation**  

 

*          Electronic submissions are requested by not required.  Please email to 

jleviner@cityoftybee.org. 

  ** Audio/video presentations must be submitted to the IT department at City Hall  

by 4:00PM on the Thursday prior to the scheduled meeting. 

 

NOTE:  Request will be postponed if necessary information is not provided. 
 

Submitted by:  Sarah Jones       

Phone / Email: sarah@tybeelighthouse.org  912-786-5801      

Comments: ________________________________________________________________________________     

__________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

Date given to Clerk of Council      August 8, 2023    

 

- Page 13 -Item #5.

mailto:jleviner@cityoftybee.org
mailto:sarah@tybeelighthouse.org


File Attachments for Item:

6. Alcohol License: Special Event, Beer/Wine-

Peace Officers Assoc. of GA dba Peace Officers Training Conf.

Hotel Tybee-1401 Strand Ave

- Page 14 -Item #6.



- Page 15 -Item #6.



- Page 16 -Item #6.



- Page 17 -Item #6.



- Page 18 -Item #6.



File Attachments for Item:

7.  Alcohol License: Beer/Wine Special Event-Friends of the Tybee Post Theater dba Tybee Post 

Music Festival, 

One Day Special Event: November 4, 2023

Hotel Tybee, 1401 Strand Ave

- Page 19 -Item #7.



- Page 20 -Item #7.



- Page 21 -Item #7.



- Page 22 -Item #7.



- Page 23 -Item #7.



File Attachments for Item:

8. Agenda Request: Alcohol License-Beer/Wine: Special Event: Tybee Festival Association dba 

Tybee Pirate Fest

Two Day Special Event: October 7-8, 2023

16th Street Parking Lot

- Page 24 -Item #8.



- Page 25 -Item #8.



- Page 26 -Item #8.



- Page 27 -Item #8.



- Page 28 -Item #8.



File Attachments for Item:

9. Preliminary FY23 Budget Amendment

- Page 29 -Item #9.



- Page 30 -Item #9.



- Page 31 -Item #9.



File Attachments for Item:

10. Tybee Island Fire and Rescue:  Purchase 2005 F550 super Duty Crew Cab Squad Truck.  

Capital Fund Acct. 350-3510-54-1300 currently available balance is $200,000.00  Cost for 

Apparatus is $50,000.00

- Page 32 -Item #10.



- Page 33 -Item #10.



- Page 34 -Item #10.



  City of Tybee Island 
 
Memorandum 
 
To:  City of Tybee Island City Council Members 
From:  Jeremy Kendrick, Fire Chief 
Date:  August, 2023 
Re:             2005 F550 Super Duty Crew Cab Squad Truck 
 
 
Background 
The Tybee Island Fire Department has acquired a quote from Fire Trucks of America for a 2005 
F550 Super Duty Crew Cab Squad Truck. Currently the department is using a F150 Ford pickup 
truck for calls for service. This apparatus has 13,899 miles and is in excellent condition. The 
vehicle comes with a 6 month drivetrain warranty.  
 
Overview 

Apparatus Equipment included:  
o 15K Generator 
o 175ft electric cord reel 
o 6 head Command Light for large scene incident 
o 2 portable lights on tripods 
o 2 Awnings for rehab  
o Oxygen Cascade System  
o Multiple Compartments for Medical, and Extrication Equipment 

Summary 
This apparatus was part of a 5 department mutual aid association. From day 1 it was equipped 
with back boards and medical equipment. This apparatus had one purpose and one purpose only 
to respond to mass casualty incidents and other large scene calls. This apparatus is spotless and 
in excellent condition. It’s a one owner department vehicle.  
 
Recommended Next Steps: 
Based on the need for the fire departments daily operation specific to EMS/Rescue operations 
this apparatus will carry all EMS and Rescue Extrication equipment as well as other assorted 
types of equipment that is not able to be carried on the current vehicle. 
 
Fire department administration recommends this item be approved 
 
Funding for this apparatus is available within the fire department budget. 
 
Capital Fund Acct. 350-3510-54-1300 currently available balance is $200,000.00 
 
Cost for Apparatus is $50,000.00 
 

- Page 35 -Item #10.



 
 
 
 
 

- Page 36 -Item #10.



File Attachments for Item:

11. Tybee Island Fire and Rescue:  Purchase 2019 22.2 Zodiac Pro 7 Rigid Inflatable Boat, 

Capital Fund Acct. 350-3510-54-2500 currently available balance is $90,000.00 Cost for Boat is 

$78,200 including trailer and delivery. This is a budgeted expense in the FY24 budget.

- Page 37 -Item #11.



  City of Tybee Island 
 
Memorandum 
 
To:  City of Tybee Island City Council Members 
From:  Jeremy Kendrick, Fire Chief 
Date:  August, 2023 
Re:             2019 22.2 Zodiac Pro 7 Rigid Inflatable Boat (RIB) 
 
 
Background 
The Tybee Island Fire Department has acquired a quote from Fire Trucks of America for a 2019 
22.2 Zodiac Pro 7 Rigid Inflatable Boat. Currently the department is using rescue jet skis but the 
department is limited on hours of operating the ski’s based on required boat lighting regulations 
and rescue efforts are more challenging for rescue personnel when making rescues for multiple 
victims. 
 
Overview 

Boat Apparatus Equipment included:  
o 4.2L FX250 Yamaha outboard motor 
o Garmin Chartplotter and Transducer 
o Custom Fusion and JL Stereo System 
o Brand new rigid inflatable tubes. Original rigid inflatable tubes were replaced do 

to Manufacture Recall under Zodiac Warrenty. 
o Brand new Shorelander Dual Axle Trailer 
o Boat Apparatus can hold up to 16 people 
o Boat Apparatus has a total 402.6 operating hours  

 
Summary 
The boat apparatus will meet and exceed our requirements for daily operations for conducting 
rescues and patrolling the ocean front and back rivers. 
 
Recommended Next Steps: 
Based on the need for the fire departments daily operation specific to EMS/ and Water Rescue 
operations this apparatus will carry all required water rescue equipment, Sonar and emergency 
lighting. The boat apparatus will be equipped with life jackets for rescue personnel and victims. 
 
Fire department administration recommends this item be approved 
 
Funding for this apparatus is available within the fire department budget. 
 
Capital Fund Acct. 350-3510-54-2500 currently available balance is $90,000.00 
 
Cost for Boat Apparatus is $78,200 including trailer and delivery. 

- Page 38 -Item #11.



 
 
 
 
 
 

- Page 39 -Item #11.



- Page 40 -Item #11.



File Attachments for Item:

12. Reimbursement Resolution

- Page 41 -Item #12.



- Page 42 -Item #12.



- Page 43 -Item #12.



- Page 44 -Item #12.



File Attachments for Item:

14. Bubba Hughes:  Tom Gehl, Government Relations Services

- Page 45 -Item #14.



 

 
 

Civic Forward Strategies, www.civicforwardstrategies.com 

(404) 444-8900 

Proposal 
 
 

 

For Governmental Relations Services for the City of Tybee Island 
August 2023 

 
Overview of Services 
 
For the City of Tybee Island, Civic Forward Strategies will proactively lobby on behalf of the 
city for the passage of a general law which gives local governments enhanced powers to 
respond to unpermitted special events which arise or are planned and promoted through 
social media. Civic Forward Strategies will coordinate bill drafting in concert with members of 
the Tybee Island legislative delegation, other members of the General Assembly who have 
an interest in addressing special events like this across the state, and with the Office of 
Legislative Counsel. Civic Forward Strategies will also work with legislators to plan for the 
introduction of legislation, analyzing strategic and tactical considerations to secure passage 
of the legislation. 
 
Professional Price Arrangements 
 
For governmental relations services necessary to navigate the legislative process Civic 
Forward Strategies proposes three options for the City of Tybee Island. 
 
Option 1: For a monthly retainer of $5,000, Civic Forward Strategies will proactively lobby on 
behalf of the city on any issues as directed by the Mayor and Council, such as securing 
funding for beach renourishment, protecting the city’s ability to regulate short-term rentals 
within its jurisdiction, and enhancing the city’s powers to control crowds and traffic resulting 
from social media promotions. 
 
Option 2: For a monthly retainer of $3,000, Civic Forward Strategies will lobby on behalf of 
the city for the passage of a general law which gives local governments enhanced powers to 
respond to unpermitted special events which arise or are planned and promoted through 
social media. 
 
Option 3: For a project fee of $25,000, Civic Forward Strategies will lobby on behalf of the city 
for the passage of a general law which gives local governments enhanced powers to respond 
to unpermitted special events which arise or are planned and promoted through social media. 
The term of this project would be August 2023, through April 2024, after the General 
Assembly has adjourned sine die and during the period when Governor Kemp will be 
considering measures to sign or veto. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

- Page 46 -Item #14.

mailto:TomGehl@CivicForwardStrategies.com


2 
 

For all three options, any travel costs for meetings with legislators or executive branch staff in 
Atlanta would be borne by Civic Forward Strategies. Should attendance be required for 
meetings in other locations across the state or meetings be necessary with key legislators 
and stakeholders, Civic Forward Strategies asks for reimbursement of actual travel and any 
lodging costs. Travel, lodging, meals, and out-of-pocket expenses will always be discussed 
with the point of contact in the City of Tybee Island prior to expenditure. 
 
Firm Principles 
  
Civic Forward Strategies is an independent governmental affairs firm centered in political 
reality, upholding the highest ethical standards, and focused on client results.  
 
Civic Forward Strategies’ Founder and Principal Tom Gehl has extensive bi-partisan, 
statewide political relationships cultivated beginning with every consecutive General 
Assembly session since 1990 and through wide-ranging involvement with thought-leaders 
throughout Georgia. Prior to founding Civic Forward Strategies, Tom lobbied on behalf of the 
537 municipal governments for the Georgia Municipal Association (GMA) for 22 years. For 
more information, visit: www.civicforwardstrategies.com. 
 
Acceptance of the Proposal 
 
__________, ________________________________ 
 
 
City of Tybee Island: __________________________ 
 
Date: ______________________________________ 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

- Page 47 -Item #14.



 

Scope of Work for Tybee Island 

 August 2023 

Proposed General Law Allowing Special Powers to Respond to Social Media-Generated Events 
 

September 2023 – Recognizing that the goal is to secure special powers for the city to respond to excessive crowds 

through the passage of a general law similar to the statute enacted in Florida. The initial draft should be broad 

enough to encompass the ability of multiple governments to coordinate and plan for a regional approach to large 

events generated by persons who “knowingly promotes or organizes” illegal gatherings, including using social 

media promotions, to incorporate enhanced authority to control crowds, invoke emergency powers to restrict 

access on roadways, and to authorize increased ordinance violation penalties violations during these events.  

Civic Forward Strategies will coordinate the drafting of legislation with the Office of Legislative Counsel, subject to 

authorization from a member of the legislature. Once drafted, the legislation will need to be socialized with City 

Attorney Bubba Hughes, who in turn will solicit input from the Tybee Island Mayor and Council, and with state 

legislators in the Tybee Island delegation. In these discussions, determination will be made on possible sponsors of 

the legislation, whether to introduce a bill in each chamber and obtaining co-sponsor support. It would be 

preferable to build broad bi-partisan support for this proposal.  

October 2023 to December 2023 – Broader socialization of the draft legislation for the following purposes:  

• Input on the draft is needed from legislators with expertise in public safety, those who serve on the 

respective House and Senate Judiciary Committees, and with leadership in both majority and minority 

caucuses.  Legislative outreach to solicit input will also be needed from leadership of the Georgia 

Legislative Black Caucus. Additionally, Lt. Governor Jones and Speaker Burns’ offices will need to be briefed 

on the draft bills, as well as the Office of Governor Kemp. 

• Public safety partners among local and state governments will need to review the draft legislation and 

provide feedback. These entities on the engagement list include, but may not be limited to, the Georgia 

Department of Transportation, the Georgia Department of Public Safety, the Georgia Department of 

Natural Resources, Chatham County and municipalities in the county, the Jekyll Island Authority, Glynn 

County and Brunswick, the City of Atlanta, the Georgia Association of Chiefs of Police, the Georgia Sheriffs 

Association, the Association County Commissioners of Georgia, the Georgia Municipal Association and the 

Prosecuting Attorneys’ Council of Georgia. The goal is to improve the draft legislation and to potentially 

form a coalition of supporters and supporter groups.  

• Engagement is likely necessary with special interest groups such as the Southern Center for Human Rights, 

the American Civil Liberties Union, Georgia Association of Criminal Defense Lawyers and others as needed.  

January 2024 to April 2024 – Civic Forward Strategies will be in regular communication with Bubba Hughes who 

can communicate developments with Mayor and Council. When that the draft legislation is ready to be introduced, 

Civic Forward Strategies will work with the lead sponsor (or lead sponsors, if the decision is made to introduce the 

proposal in both the House and Senate) to obtain bi-partisan co-sponsors to sign the legislation. Once introduced 

and assigned to committee(s), Civic Forward Strategies will brief members of the respective committees to which 

the legislation was assigned and work to obtain their support. If needed, public safety allies will be asked to 

publicly support the measure when it receives committee debate. Civic Forward Strategies will engage tactically 

with other committees (particularly the House and Senate Rules Committees) as necessary. If the measure receives 

final passage in the General Assembly, Civic Forward Strategies will coordinate engagement to show Governor 

Kemp the level of support for the measure and ask for his signature to make the bill Georgia law.  

- Page 48 -Item #14.



File Attachments for Item:

16. Michelle Owens:  Procedures for Dump Fees

- Page 49 -Item #16.



C:\Users\Meetingsofficeuser5\Appdata\Local\Temp\Tmpcc62.Tmp 

1 
 

  City of Tybee Island 
 
Memorandum 
To:  City of Tybee Island City Council Members 
From:  Pete Gulbronson, City Engineer/Director of Infrastructure 
Date:  August 17, 2023 
Re:  Free Dumping for Residents 
 
 
Background 
 
At the August 10, 2023 City Council meeting, I was tasked with coming up with a procedure for 
free dumping for residents at the DPW dump and a start date. 
 
Overview 
 
In order for a resident to not be charged to dump, the following conditions must be met: 

 Resident must present their valid driver’s license with a City of Tybee address or a City of 
Tybee water bill to prove residency.   

 Residents must be hauling debris in their own personal vehicle, no business owned 
vehicles will be allowed to dump for free. 

 Debris must be contained in their personal vehicle or a single axle trailer, no dump trailers 
will be allowed to dump for free. 

 Residents will be allowed to dump for free during the normal dump hours: 
o Weekdays 7:30 AM to 3:00 PM 
o Weekends 12:00 PM to 2:00 PM 
o Dump will be closed on holidays 

 All other dump rules will still apply. 

 The following items will not be allowed to be dumped: 
o Propane tanks 
o Paint or paint products 
o Televisions and other electronic devices 
o Tires 
o Batteries 
o Hazardous materials 

 Contractors and residents who are unable to present proof of residency will be charged 
the normal rate of $0.05 per pound. 

 
Recommended Next Steps: 
 
I would recommend that this information gets posted onto the City website and included in the 
next month’s utility bill and take effect on October 1, 2023. 

- Page 50 -Item #16.



File Attachments for Item:

17. Michelle Owens:  Main Street:  Non-profit Grants

- Page 51 -Item #17.



DR
AF
T

2023- 2024 Nonprofit Grant Funding Requests

Organization Status Amount Requested Amount Recommended City Services Waiver Other City Funding Received Matching

Funds

Notes

Tybee Arts Association/

TBT

Approved $53,400.00 $10,000.00 $4,300.00 100%

Tybee Clean Beach

Volunteers Inc.

Approved $3,500.00 $3,500.00 85%

Tybee Post Theater Approved $12,372.00 $10,000.00 $4,300.00 Portion of Hotel Tax 100%

Tybee Beautification

Association

Approved $7,705.00 $2,000.00 0%

Friends of Cockspur

Lighthouse

Approved $5,000.00 $5,000.00 20%

Fresh Air Home Approved $1,200.00 $1,680.00 25%

Tybee MLK Approved $24,000.00 $10,000.00 $4,300.00 Funding for Black History Trail

Signage

Not

Specified

Yeepies Denied $575.00 $0.00 0%

American Legion Approved $172,220.00 $10,000.00 $3,230.00 0%

Marine Science Center Approved $25,000.00 $10,000.00 Restroom construction

Parking

TPD Funding

100%

Tybee Island Farmers

Market

Approved $135.00 n/a

Tybee Festival Association Approved $9,980.00 $10,000.00 $4,300.00 100%

Tybee Irish Heritage Inc. Approved $3,500.00 $3,500.00 $3,700.00 100%

Total: $75,680.00 Total: $24,265.00 Total: 99,945.00

- Page 52 -Item #17.


	Top
	Item #1.	Coast Guard Birthday Recognition
	Item #2.	City Council Meeting Minutes, July 13, 2023
	20230810Minutes (4)

	Item #3.	Tiffany Hayes, Chief, Tybee Island Police Department:  New K-9 Program  (Information Only)
	[Untitled]

	Item #4.	Nick Sears:  Unauthorized STR Permits in the residential neighborhoods
	Item #5.	Sarah Jones:  Lighthouse Preservation Project
	Agenda Request - Public_8-24-23 Tybee Lighthouse

	Item #6.	Agenda Request: Alcohol license-Special Event Peace Officers Assoc. of GA dba Peace Officers Training Conf
	Agenda Request- Peace Officers Association of Georgia

	Item #7.	Agenda Request: Alcohol License: Beer/Wine Special Event-Friends of the Tybee Post Theater dba Tybee Post Music Festival,
	Agenda Request- Friends of the Tybee Post Theater dba Tybee Post Music Festival

	Item #8.	Agenda Request: Alcohol License-Special Event: Tybee Festival Association dba Tybee Pirate Fest
	Agenda Request- Tybee Festival Assoc dba Tybee Pirate Fest

	Item #9.	Preliminary FY23 Budget Amendment
	[Untitled]

	Item #10.	Tybee Island Fire and Rescue:  Purchase 2005 F550 super Duty Crew Cab Squad Truck.  Capital Fund Acct. 350-3510-54-1300 currently available balance is $200,000.00  Cost for Apparatus is $50,000.00
	TIFR Equipment Purchase agenda item - 8-24-23
	Memo for Pruchase of F550 Squad Truck

	Item #11.	Tybee Island Fire and Rescue: Purchase 2019 22.2 Zodiac Pro 7 Rigid Inflatable Boat, Capital Fund Acct. 350-3510-54-2500 currently available balance is $90,000.00 Cost for Boat is $78,200 including trailer and delivery. This is a budgeted expense in the FY24 budget.
	Memo for Pruchase of 22.2 Zodiac Pro 7 Rigid Inflatable Boat.
	_TIFR Equipment Purchase-Boat

	Item #12.	Reimbursement Resolution
	[Untitled]

	Item #13.	Bubba Hughes:  Patel vs Tybee Authorization/Agreement
	Item #14.	Bubba Hughes:  Tom Gehl, Government Relations Services
	Civic Forward Strategies Proposal for Governmental Relations Services_Tybee Island 2023 v2
	Scope of Work for Tybee Island 2023-2024

	Item #15.	Barry Brown:  Functional Fire Hydrants
	Item #16.	Michelle Owens: Procedures for Dump Fees
	Residental Free Dumping

	Item #17.	Michelle Owens:  Main Street:  Non-profit Grants
	2023- 2024 Nonprofit Grant Funding Requests_Draft

	Bottom

